

HOUSE BILL No. 1050

DIGEST OF INTRODUCED BILL

Citations Affected: IC 7.1-3-23-20.5; IC 9-13-2; IC 9-14-12-2; IC 9-18.5; IC 9-24; IC 9-26; IC 9-27; IC 9-33-1-1; IC 34-30-2.1-107.1.

Synopsis: Various motor vehicle matters. Defines "lawful status". Repeals the term "credential". Defines "physical credential". Provides for when a credential issued by the bureau of motor vehicles (bureau) must be in the form of a physical credential or a mobile credential. Provides for the form of the mobile credential. Provides that, beginning July 1, 2023, and each year thereafter, the bureau is required to provide the executive director of the legislative services agency the name of a special group for whom: (1) 10 years have elapsed since the special group was admitted into the special group recognition license plate program; or (2) 10 years have elapsed since the previous review of the special group by the interim study committee on roads and transportation. Provides that if a special group was subject to a decennial review before July 1, 2023, then the next review occurs in the year which is a multiple of 10 years after the year of the special group's admittance to the special group recognition license plate program. Replaces the terms "legal status", "legal presence", and "legal permanent resident" with "lawful status" throughout the relevant statutes. Provides that the term "driver training school" does not include a business enterprise that educates or trains a person or prepares a person to operate a commercial motor vehicle. Provides that certain entities are immune from civil liability for an act or omission occurring during a motorcycle operator safety course that results in an injury or property damage. Provides that administrative procedures of the bureau do not apply to a hearing requested by a nonresident regarding the suspension of the driving privileges of the nonresident for failure to meet the terms of a citation. Makes conforming changes.

Effective: July 1, 2023.

Pressel

January 9, 2023, read first time and referred to Committee on Roads and Transportation.



First Regular Session of the 123rd General Assembly (2023)

PRINTING CODE. Amendments: Whenever an existing statute (or a section of the Indiana Constitution) is being amended, the text of the existing provision will appear in this style type, additions will appear in **this style type**, and deletions will appear in ~~this style type~~.

Additions: Whenever a new statutory provision is being enacted (or a new constitutional provision adopted), the text of the new provision will appear in **this style type**. Also, the word **NEW** will appear in that style type in the introductory clause of each SECTION that adds a new provision to the Indiana Code or the Indiana Constitution.

Conflict reconciliation: Text in a statute in *this style type* or ~~this style type~~ reconciles conflicts between statutes enacted by the 2022 Regular Session of the General Assembly.

HOUSE BILL No. 1050



A BILL FOR AN ACT to amend the Indiana Code concerning motor vehicles.

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the State of Indiana:

1 SECTION 1. IC 7.1-3-23-20.5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.85-2017,
2 SECTION 36, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
3 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 20.5. (a) As used in this section, "adult
4 entertainment" means adult oriented entertainment in which performers
5 disrobe or perform in an unclothed state for entertainment.
6 (b) This section applies to the holder of a retailer's permit that
7 provides adult entertainment on the licensed premises.
8 (c) The holder of a retailer's permit that provides adult entertainment
9 on the licensed premises shall do the following:
10 (1) Require a performer who provides adult entertainment on the
11 licensed premises to provide proof of age by at least one (1) form
12 of government issued identification, including a:
13 (A) state issued driver's license;
14 (B) state issued identification card; or
15 (C) passport;
16 showing the performer to be at least eighteen (18) years of age.
17 (2) Require a performer who provides adult entertainment on the



- 1 licensed premises to provide proof of legal residency in the
 2 United States by means of:
 3 (A) a birth certificate;
 4 (B) a Social Security card;
 5 (C) a passport;
 6 (D) valid documentary evidence ~~described in~~ **of lawful status**
 7 **under IC 9-24-9-2.5**; or
 8 (E) other valid documentary evidence issued by the United
 9 States demonstrating that the performer is entitled to reside in
 10 the United States.
- 11 (3) Take a photograph of each adult entertainer who auditions to
 12 provide adult entertainment at the licensed premises at the time
 13 of the audition and retain the photograph for at least three (3)
 14 years after:
 15 (A) the date of the audition; or
 16 (B) the last day on which the performer provides adult
 17 entertainment at the licensed premises;
 18 whichever is later. A photograph taken under this subdivision
 19 may show only the adult entertainer's facial features.
- 20 (4) Require all performers and other employees of the retail
 21 permit holder to sign a document approved by the commission to
 22 acknowledge their awareness of the problem of human trafficking.
- 23 (5) Display human trafficking awareness posters in at least two
 24 (2) of the following locations on the licensed premises:
 25 (A) The office of the manager of the licensed premises.
 26 (B) The locker room used by performers or other employees.
 27 (C) The break room used by performers or other employees.
- 28 Posters displayed under this subdivision must describe human
 29 trafficking, state indicators of human trafficking (such as
 30 restricted freedom of movement and signs of physical abuse), set
 31 forth hotline telephone numbers for law enforcement, and be
 32 approved by the commission.
- 33 (6) Cooperate with any law enforcement investigation concerning
 34 allegations of a violation of this section.
- 35 (d) The commission may revoke, suspend, or refuse to renew the
 36 permit issued for the licensed premises if the holder fails to comply
 37 with subsection (c).
- 38 (e) In determining whether to revoke, suspend, or refuse to renew
 39 the permit issued for a licensed premises under subsection (d), the
 40 commission may consider:
 41 (1) the extent to which the permit holder has cooperated with any
 42 law enforcement investigation as required by subsection (c)(6);



1 and

2 (2) whether the permit holder has provided training to performers
3 who provide adult entertainment at the permit holder's licensed
4 premises and other employees of the licensed premises through a
5 program that:

6 (A) is designed to increase the awareness of human trafficking
7 and assist victims of human trafficking; and

8 (B) has been approved by:

9 (i) a department of the United States government; or

10 (ii) a nationwide association made up of operators who run
11 adult entertainment establishments.

12 SECTION 2. IC 9-13-2-39.7 IS REPEALED [EFFECTIVE JULY
13 1, 2023]. Sec. 39.7. "Credential" means the following:

14 (1) The following forms of documentation in physical form issued
15 by the bureau under IC 9-24:

16 (A) A driver's license.

17 (B) A learner's permit.

18 (C) An identification card.

19 (D) A photo exempt identification card.

20 (2) The following forms of documentation in the form of a mobile
21 credential issued by the bureau under IC 9-24:

22 (A) Except for a commercial driver's license issued under
23 IC 9-24-6.1, a driver's license.

24 (B) Except for a commercial learner's permit issued under
25 IC 9-24-6.1, a learner's permit.

26 (C) An identification card.

27 (3) For the purposes of IC 9-24-17.7, any form of documentation
28 in physical form or digital form accessible on a mobile device
29 issued by the bureau under IC 9-24:

30 SECTION 3. IC 9-13-2-48, AS AMENDED BY P.L.120-2020,
31 SECTION 5, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
32 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 48. (a) "Driver's license" means the following:

33 (1) Any type of license issued by the state in ~~physical~~ **the form of**
34 **a physical credential** authorizing an individual to operate the
35 type of vehicle for which the license was issued, in the manner for
36 which the license was issued, on a highway. The term includes
37 any endorsements added to the license under IC 9-24-8.5.

38 (2) Except for a commercial driver's license issued under
39 IC 9-24-6.1, any type of license issued by the state in the form of
40 a mobile credential authorizing an individual to operate the type
41 of vehicle for which the license was issued, in the manner for
42 which the license was issued, on a highway. The term includes



1 any endorsements added to the license under IC 9-24-8.5.

2 (b) ~~Notwithstanding the July 1, 2021, effective date in HEA~~
3 ~~1506-2019, SECTION 33 (P.L.178-2019), this section takes effect July~~
4 ~~1, 2020 (rather than July 1, 2021).~~

5 SECTION 4. IC 9-13-2-74.5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.120-2020,
6 SECTION 7, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
7 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 74.5. (a) "Identification card" means an
8 identification document issued by a state government either in ~~physical~~
9 **the form of a physical credential** or in the form of a mobile credential
10 for purposes of identification.

11 (b) ~~Notwithstanding the July 1, 2021, effective date in HEA~~
12 ~~1506-2019, SECTION 34 (P.L.178-2019), this section takes effect July~~
13 ~~1, 2020 (rather than July 1, 2021).~~

14 SECTION 5. IC 9-13-2-92.3 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE
15 AS A **NEW SECTION** TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY
16 1, 2023]: **Sec. 92.3. "Lawful status" means that an individual has**
17 **lawful status as:**

18 (1) **a citizen or national of the United States; or**

19 (2) **an alien who:**

20 (A) **is lawfully admitted for permanent residence or**
21 **temporary residence;**

22 (B) **has conditional permanent resident status;**

23 (C) **has a pending or approved application for asylum;**

24 (D) **has refugee status;**

25 (E) **has valid nonimmigrant status;**

26 (F) **has a pending or approved application for temporary**
27 **protected status;**

28 (G) **has approved deferred action status; or**

29 (H) **has a pending application for lawful permanent**
30 **resident status or conditional permanent resident status;**

31 **in the United States.**

32 SECTION 6. IC 9-13-2-103.4, AS AMENDED BY P.L.120-2020,
33 SECTION 10, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
34 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 103.4. (a) "Mobile credential" means a digital
35 ~~representation~~ **data** issued **to a telecommunications device** by the
36 bureau under IC 9-24-17.5 of the information contained on the
37 following:

38 (1) A driver's license.

39 (2) A learner's permit.

40 (3) An identification card.

41 The term does not include a commercial driver's license or commercial
42 learner's permit issued under IC 9-24-6.1, **a motorcycle learner's**



1 **permit issued under IC 9-24-8-3, a photo exempt driver's license**
 2 **issued under IC 9-24-11-5(b)**, or a photo exempt identification card
 3 issued under IC 9-24-16.5.

4 ~~(b) Notwithstanding the July 1, 2021, effective date in HEA~~
 5 ~~1506-2019, SECTION 36 (P.L.178-2019), this section takes effect July~~
 6 ~~1, 2020 (rather than July 1, 2021):~~

7 SECTION 7. IC 9-13-2-123.5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.120-2020,
 8 SECTION 14, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 9 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 123.5. ~~(a)~~ "Permit" means the following:

10 (1) A permit issued by the state in ~~physical~~ **the form of a physical**
 11 **credential** authorizing an individual to operate the type of vehicle
 12 for which the permit was issued on public streets, roads, or
 13 highways with certain restrictions. The term under this
 14 subdivision includes the following:

15 (A) A learner's permit.

16 (B) A motorcycle **learner's** permit.

17 (C) A commercial learner's permit.

18 (2) A permit issued by the state in the form of a mobile credential
 19 authorizing an individual to operate the type of vehicle for which
 20 the permit was issued on public streets, roads, or highways with
 21 certain restrictions. The term under this subdivision includes a
 22 learner's permit. ~~and a motorcycle permit.~~ The term under this
 23 subdivision does not include **a motorcycle learner's permit or**
 24 **a commercial learner's permit.**

25 ~~(b) Notwithstanding the July 1, 2021, effective date in HEA~~
 26 ~~1506-2019, SECTION 37 (P.L.178-2019), this section takes effect July~~
 27 ~~1, 2020 (rather than July 1, 2021):~~

28 SECTION 8. IC 9-13-2-125.6 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA
 29 CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS
 30 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 125.6. **"Physical credential"**
 31 **means the following forms of documentation issued by the bureau**
 32 **under IC 9-24 in physical form:**

33 (1) A driver's license.

34 (2) A learner's permit.

35 (3) A motorcycle learner's permit.

36 (4) An identification card.

37 (5) A photo exempt identification card.

38 (6) A commercial driver's license or commercial learner's
 39 permit.

40 SECTION 9. IC 9-14-12-2, AS AMENDED BY P.L.164-2020,
 41 SECTION 35, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 42 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 2. The bureau shall maintain the following



- 1 records:
- 2 (1) All records related to or concerning certificates of title issued
- 3 by the bureau under IC 9-17 and IC 9-31 (before its repeal),
- 4 including the following:
- 5 (A) An original certificate of title and all assignments and
- 6 reissues of the certificate of title.
- 7 (B) All documents submitted in support of an application for
- 8 a certificate of title.
- 9 (C) Any notations recorded on a certificate of title.
- 10 (D) A listing of all reported buyback vehicles in accordance
- 11 with IC 9-17-3-3.5.
- 12 (E) Any inspection that is conducted:
- 13 (i) by an employee of the bureau or commission; and
- 14 (ii) with respect to a certificate of title issued by the bureau.
- 15 (2) All records related to or concerning registrations issued under
- 16 IC 9-18 (before its expiration), IC 9-18.1, or IC 9-31 (before its
- 17 repeal), including the following:
- 18 (A) The distinctive registration number assigned to each
- 19 vehicle registered under IC 9-18 (before its expiration) or
- 20 IC 9-18.1 or each watercraft registered under IC 9-31 (before
- 21 its repeal).
- 22 (B) All documents submitted in support of applications for
- 23 registration.
- 24 (3) All records related to or concerning **physical credentials or**
- 25 **mobile credentials** issued by the bureau under IC 9-24, including
- 26 applications and information submitted by applicants.
- 27 (4) All driving records maintained by the bureau under section 3
- 28 of this chapter.
- 29 (5) A record of each individual that acknowledges making an
- 30 anatomical gift as set forth in IC 9-24-17.
- 31 SECTION 10. IC 9-18.5-12-5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
- 32 SECTION 24, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
- 33 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 5. (a) **Beginning July 1, 2023, and each year**
- 34 **thereafter**, the bureau shall forward to the executive director of the
- 35 legislative services agency in an electronic format under IC 5-14-6 for
- 36 review by the committee the name of a special group **for whom:**
- 37 (1) **that was awarded initially a special group recognition license**
- 38 **plate by the bureau more than ten (10) years in the past; and ten**
- 39 **(10) years have elapsed since the special group was admitted**
- 40 **into the special group recognition license plate program; or**
- 41 (2) **whose special group recognition license plate has not been**
- 42 **reviewed by the special group recognition license plate committee**



1 established by IC 2-5-36.2-4 (repealed) or the committee during
 2 the ten (10) year period following the initial or subsequent award
 3 of the special group recognition license plate: **ten (10) years have**
 4 **elapsed since the previous review of the special group by the**
 5 **special group recognition license plate committee established**
 6 **by IC 2-5-36.2-4 (repealed) or the committee as required**
 7 **under this section.**

8 Upon receipt of the name of a special group, except for a petition under
 9 section 3(a)(8) of this chapter, the committee shall require the special
 10 group to submit to the committee evidence of the criteria set forth in
 11 section 3 of this chapter. Upon submission of the criteria, the
 12 committee shall review the suitability of the special group to continue
 13 participating in the special group recognition license plate program. In
 14 the review, the committee shall consider the criteria set forth in section
 15 3 of this chapter and may seek additional evidence of the criteria from
 16 a special group. The committee shall recommend to the bureau that
 17 participation in the special group recognition license plate program be
 18 terminated if the committee finds that termination is appropriate
 19 because the special group is not suitable for inclusion in the special
 20 group license plate program.

21 **(b) If a special group was subject to a decennial review under**
 22 **this section before July 1, 2023, then the next review occurs in the**
 23 **year which is a multiple of ten (10) years after the year of the**
 24 **special group's admittance to the special group recognition license**
 25 **plate program under this section.**

26 ~~(b)~~ (c) Upon receiving a recommendation of termination for a
 27 special group under subsection (a), the bureau may:

- 28 (1) terminate the special group from participation in the special
 29 group recognition license plate program; or
- 30 (2) allow the special group to continue participating in the special
 31 group recognition license plate program for a period of not more
 32 than eighteen (18) months.

33 ~~(c)~~ (d) If the bureau terminates the participation of a special group
 34 under subsection ~~(b)(1)~~: (c)(1):

- 35 (1) the bureau may not issue additional special group recognition
 36 license plates of the special group to plateholders; and
- 37 (2) a plateholder may not renew a special group recognition
 38 license plate of the special group.

39 If the special group desires to continue participating in the special
 40 group recognition license plate program, the special group must submit
 41 an application to the bureau containing the criteria set forth in section
 42 3 of this chapter. The bureau shall then follow the procedure set forth



- 1 in section 3 of this chapter.
- 2 ~~(d)~~ **(e)** If the bureau allows a special group to continue participating
 3 in the special group recognition license plate program for a period
 4 under subsection ~~(b)(2)~~; **(c)(2)**, the bureau shall:
- 5 (1) establish the duration of the set period under subsection
 6 ~~(b)(2)~~; **(c)(2)**; and
- 7 (2) require the special group to submit to the bureau:
- 8 (A) evidence of the criteria set forth in section 3 of this
 9 chapter; and
- 10 (B) any additional information the bureau determines is
 11 necessary.
- 12 ~~(e)~~ **(f)** The bureau shall:
- 13 (1) review the evidence and additional information submitted by
 14 a special group under subsection ~~(d)(2)~~; **(e)(2)**; and
- 15 (2) determine whether to terminate or continue the participation
 16 of the special group in the special group recognition license plate
 17 program.
- 18 ~~(f)~~ **(g)** After the review under subsection ~~(e)~~; **(f)**, if the bureau
 19 terminates the participation of the special group and the special group
 20 desires to continue participating, the special group must submit an
 21 application to the bureau containing the criteria set forth in section 3 of
 22 this chapter. The bureau shall then follow the procedure set forth in
 23 section 3 of this chapter.
- 24 ~~(g)~~ **(h)** After the review under subsection ~~(e)~~; **(f)**, if the bureau
 25 continues the participation of the special group in the special group
 26 recognition license plate program, the bureau may do one (1) or more
 27 of the following:
- 28 (1) Allow the special group to remedy the defect or the violation
 29 that caused the special group to not be suitable for inclusion in the
 30 special group recognition license plate program.
- 31 (2) Place restrictions on or temporarily suspend the sales of
 32 special group recognition license plates for the special group.
- 33 (3) Require the special group to appear before the commission for
 34 review or reinstatement, or both.
- 35 ~~(h)~~ **(i)** The bureau may suspend the issuance of a special group
 36 recognition license plate for a special group if the bureau, upon
 37 investigation, has determined that the special group has advocated or
 38 committed a violation of federal or state law.
- 39 SECTION 11. IC 9-18.5-29-3, AS AMENDED BY P.L.118-2022,
 40 SECTION 18, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 41 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 3. (a) An individual who registers a vehicle under
 42 this title may apply for and receive a Hoosier veteran license plate for



- 1 one (1) or more vehicles upon doing the following:
- 2 (1) Completing an application for a Hoosier veteran license plate.
- 3 (2) Presenting one (1) of the following to the bureau:
- 4 (A) A United States Uniformed Services Retiree Identification
- 5 Card.
- 6 (B) A DD 214 or DD 215 record.
- 7 (C) United States military discharge papers.
- 8 (D) A current armed forces identification card.
- 9 (E) A **physical credential or mobile credential** issued to the
- 10 individual that contains an indication of veteran status under
- 11 IC 9-24-11-5.5.
- 12 (3) Paying a fee in an amount of fifteen dollars (\$15).
- 13 (b) The bureau shall distribute at least one (1) time each month the
- 14 fee described in subsection (a)(3) to the director of veterans' affairs for
- 15 deposit in the military family relief fund established under
- 16 IC 10-17-12-8.
- 17 SECTION 12. IC 9-24-1-1, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
- 18 SECTION 34, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
- 19 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 1. (a) Except as provided in section 7 of this
- 20 chapter, an individual must have a valid:
- 21 (1) driver's license; or
- 22 (2) permit;
- 23 including any necessary endorsements, issued to the individual by the
- 24 bureau **in the form of a physical credential** to operate upon a highway
- 25 the type of motor vehicle for which the driver's license, endorsement,
- 26 or permit was issued.
- 27 (b) An individual must have:
- 28 (1) an unexpired identification card with a motor driven cycle
- 29 endorsement issued to the individual by the bureau under
- 30 IC 9-24-16;
- 31 (2) a valid driver's license; or
- 32 (3) a valid learner's permit;
- 33 **issued in the form of a physical credential** to operate a motor driven
- 34 cycle upon a highway.
- 35 (c) An individual who violates this section commits a Class C
- 36 infraction.
- 37 SECTION 13. IC 9-24-2-3, AS AMENDED BY P.L.118-2022,
- 38 SECTION 28, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
- 39 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 3. (a) The bureau may not issue a driver's license
- 40 or learner's permit or grant driving privileges to the following
- 41 individuals:
- 42 (1) An individual whose driving privileges have been suspended,



1 during the period for which the driving privileges are suspended,
 2 or to an individual whose driver's license has been revoked, until
 3 the time the bureau is authorized under Indiana law to issue the
 4 individual a new driver's license.

5 (2) An individual whose learner's permit has been suspended or
 6 revoked until the time the bureau is authorized under Indiana law
 7 to issue the individual a new learner's permit.

8 (3) An individual who, in the opinion of the bureau, is afflicted
 9 with or suffering from a physical or mental disability or disease
 10 that prevents the individual from exercising reasonable and
 11 ordinary control over a motor vehicle while operating the motor
 12 vehicle on a highway.

13 (4) An individual who is unable to understand highway warnings
 14 or direction signs written in the English language.

15 (5) An individual who is required under this article to take an
 16 examination unless:

17 (A) the individual successfully passes the examination; or

18 (B) the bureau waives the examination requirement.

19 (6) An individual who is required under IC 9-25 or any other
 20 statute to deposit or provide proof of financial responsibility and
 21 who has not deposited or provided that proof.

22 (7) An individual when the bureau has good cause to believe that
 23 the operation of a motor vehicle on a highway by the individual
 24 would be inimical to public safety or welfare.

25 (8) An individual who is the subject of an order issued by:

26 (A) a court under IC 31-16-12-7 (or IC 31-1-11.5-13,
 27 IC 31-6-6.1-16, or IC 31-14-12-4 before their repeal); or

28 (B) the Title IV-D agency;

29 ordering that a driver's license or permit not be issued to the
 30 individual.

31 (9) An individual who has not presented valid documentary
 32 evidence to the bureau of the individual's ~~legal~~ lawful status in
 33 the United States, as required by IC 9-24-9-2.5.

34 (10) An individual who does not otherwise satisfy the
 35 requirements of this article.

36 (b) An individual subject to epileptic seizures may not be denied a
 37 driver's license or permit under this section if the individual presents
 38 a statement from a licensed physician or an advanced practice
 39 registered nurse, on a form prescribed by the bureau, that the individual
 40 is under medication and is free from seizures while under medication.

41 SECTION 14. IC 9-24-3-6, AS ADDED BY P.L.111-2021,
 42 SECTION 41, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE



1 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 6. (a) The bureau may impose an additional fee of
2 twenty-five dollars (\$25) if the bureau processes a ~~credential~~ **an**
3 **application for a physical credential** under this chapter in a period of
4 time that is shorter than the normal processing period. The bureau shall
5 deposit the fee in the commission fund.

6 (b) A fee imposed under this section is in addition to any other fee
7 imposed under this chapter.

8 SECTION 15. IC 9-24-4-7, AS ADDED BY P.L.111-2021,
9 SECTION 43, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
10 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 7. (a) The bureau may impose an additional fee of
11 twenty-five dollars (\$25) if the bureau processes a ~~credential~~ **an**
12 **application for a physical credential** under this chapter in a period of
13 time that is shorter than the normal processing period. The bureau shall
14 deposit the fee in the commission fund.

15 (b) A fee imposed under this section is in addition to any other fee
16 imposed under this chapter.

17 SECTION 16. IC 9-24-6.1-11, AS ADDED BY P.L.111-2021,
18 SECTION 45, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
19 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 11. (a) The bureau may impose an additional fee
20 of twenty-five dollars (\$25) if the bureau processes a ~~credential~~ **an**
21 **application for a physical credential** under this chapter in a period of
22 time that is shorter than the normal processing period. The bureau shall
23 deposit the fee in the commission fund.

24 (b) A fee imposed under this section is in addition to any other fee
25 imposed under this chapter.

26 SECTION 17. IC 9-24-7-8, AS ADDED BY P.L.111-2021,
27 SECTION 48, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
28 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 8. (a) The bureau may impose an additional fee of
29 twenty-five dollars (\$25) if the bureau processes a ~~credential~~ **an**
30 **application for a physical credential** under this chapter in a period of
31 time that is shorter than the normal processing period. The bureau shall
32 deposit the fee in the commission fund.

33 (b) A fee imposed under this section is in addition to any other fee
34 imposed under this chapter.

35 SECTION 18. IC 9-24-8.5-3, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
36 SECTION 52, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
37 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 3. (a) The bureau shall add a motorcycle
38 endorsement to a driver's license if the holder meets the following
39 conditions:

- 40 (1) Is at least:
41 (A) sixteen (16) years and ninety (90) days of age and has
42 completed a motorcycle operator safety education course



- 1 approved by the bureau under IC 9-27-7; or
 2 (B) sixteen (16) years and two hundred seventy (270) days of
 3 age.
 4 (2) Makes a proper application in the form and manner prescribed
 5 by the bureau.
 6 (3) Has passed a written examination developed by the bureau
 7 concerning the safe operation of a motorcycle.
 8 (4) Satisfactorily completes an operational skills test at a location
 9 approved by the bureau.
 10 (5) Pays a fee of nineteen dollars (\$19). The fee shall be
 11 distributed as follows:
 12 (A) Fifty cents (\$0.50) to the state motor vehicle technology
 13 fund.
 14 (B) One dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) to the motor
 15 vehicle highway account.
 16 (C) One dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) to the integrated
 17 public safety communications fund.
 18 (D) Sixteen dollars (\$16) to the commission fund.
 19 (b) The bureau may waive the testing requirements under subsection
 20 (a)(3) and (a)(4) for an individual who satisfactorily completes a
 21 motorcycle operator safety course approved by the bureau as set forth
 22 in IC 9-27-7.
 23 (c) The bureau may waive the operational skills test under
 24 subsection (a)(4) for an individual who holds a valid motorcycle
 25 endorsement or motorcycle license from any other jurisdiction.
 26 (d) An individual who fails the operational skills test under
 27 subsection (a)(4) three (3) consecutive times is not eligible to retake
 28 the test until two (2) months after the date of the most recent failed test.
 29 (e) The fee for a motorcycle operational skills test administered
 30 under this chapter is as follows:
 31 (1) For tests given by state employees, the fee is five dollars (\$5)
 32 and shall be deposited in the motor vehicle highway account
 33 under IC 8-14-1.
 34 (2) For tests given by a contractor approved by the bureau, the fee
 35 is:
 36 (A) determined under rules adopted by the bureau under
 37 IC 4-22-2 to cover the direct costs of administering the test;
 38 and
 39 (B) paid to the contractor.
 40 (f) The bureau may impose an additional fee of twenty-five dollars
 41 (\$25) if the bureau processes a ~~credential~~ **an application for a physical**
 42 **credential** under this chapter in a period of time that is shorter than the



1 normal processing period. The bureau shall deposit the fee in the
2 commission fund.

3 (g) A fee imposed under this section is in addition to any other fee
4 imposed under this chapter.

5 SECTION 19. IC 9-24-8.5-5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
6 SECTION 54, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
7 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 5. (a) The bureau shall add a for-hire endorsement
8 to a driver's license if the holder meets the following conditions:

9 (1) Is at least eighteen (18) years of age.

10 (2) Has held a valid driver's license for more than one (1) year.

11 (3) Makes a proper application in a form and manner prescribed
12 by the bureau.

13 (4) Satisfactorily passes a written test approved by the bureau.

14 (5) Pays a fee of nineteen dollars (\$19). The fee shall be
15 distributed as follows:

16 (A) Fifty cents (\$0.50) to the state motor vehicle technology
17 fund.

18 (B) One dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) to the motor
19 vehicle highway account.

20 (C) One dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) to the integrated
21 public safety communications fund.

22 (D) Sixteen dollars (\$16) to the commission fund.

23 (b) The bureau may impose an additional fee of twenty-five dollars
24 (\$25) if the bureau processes ~~a credential~~ **an application for a physical**
25 **credential** under this chapter in a period of time that is shorter than the
26 normal processing period. The bureau shall deposit the fee in the
27 commission fund.

28 (c) A fee imposed under this section is in addition to any other fee
29 imposed under this chapter.

30 SECTION 20. IC 9-24-9-2.5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.198-2016,
31 SECTION 465, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
32 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 2.5. In addition to the information
33 required from the applicant for a driver's license or permit under
34 sections 1 and 2 of this chapter, the bureau shall require an applicant
35 to present to the bureau valid documentary evidence that the applicant
36 **has lawful status.**

37 ~~(1) is a citizen or national of the United States;~~

38 ~~(2) is an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence in the~~
39 ~~United States;~~

40 ~~(3) has conditional permanent resident status in the United States;~~

41 ~~(4) has an approved application for asylum in the United States or~~
42 ~~has entered into the United States in refugee status;~~



1 (5) is an alien lawfully admitted for temporary residence in the
 2 United States;
 3 (6) has a valid unexpired nonimmigrant visa or nonimmigrant visa
 4 status for entry into the United States;
 5 (7) has a pending application for asylum in the United States;
 6 (8) has a pending or approved application for temporary protected
 7 status in the United States;
 8 (9) has approved deferred action status; or
 9 (10) has a pending application for adjustment of status to that of
 10 an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence in the United
 11 States or conditional permanent resident status in the United
 12 States.

13 SECTION 21. IC 9-24-11-4, AS AMENDED BY P.L.120-2020,
 14 SECTION 27, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 15 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 4. (a) Except as provided in subsection (d), an
 16 individual may not hold or possess more than one (1) **physical**
 17 credential at a time.

18 (b) An individual may not hold or possess:

- 19 (1) a **physical** credential; and
 20 (2) a driver's license or identification card issued by a government
 21 authority that issues driver's licenses and identification cards from
 22 another state, territory, federal district, commonwealth, or
 23 possession of the United States.

24 (c) An individual shall destroy or surrender to the bureau any and
 25 all **physical** credentials ~~driver's licenses; or identification cards~~ that
 26 would cause the individual to violate subsection (a) or (b).

27 (d) An individual may hold both a **physical** credential ~~in physical~~
 28 ~~form and in the form of~~ a mobile credential issued under this article at
 29 the same time.

30 (e) An individual who violates this section commits a Class C
 31 infraction.

32 (f) ~~Notwithstanding the July 1, 2021, effective date in HEA~~
 33 ~~1506-2019, SECTION 48 (P.L.178-2019), this section takes effect July~~
 34 ~~1, 2020 (rather than July 1, 2021):~~

35 SECTION 22. IC 9-24-11-5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.120-2020,
 36 SECTION 28, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 37 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 5. (a) Except as provided in subsection (d), a
 38 learner's permit or driver's license issued under this article must contain
 39 the following information:

- 40 (1) The full legal name of the permittee or licensee.
 41 (2) The date of birth of the permittee or licensee.
 42 (3) The address of the principal residence of the permittee or



- 1 licensee.
- 2 (4) The hair color and eye color of the permittee or licensee.
- 3 (5) The date of issue and expiration date of the permit or license.
- 4 (6) The gender of the permittee or licensee.
- 5 (7) The unique identifying number of the permit or license.
- 6 (8) The weight of the permittee or licensee.
- 7 (9) The height of the permittee or licensee.
- 8 (10) A reproduction of the signature of the permittee or licensee.
- 9 (11) If the permittee or licensee is less than eighteen (18) years of
- 10 age at the time of issuance, the dates, notated prominently, on
- 11 which the permittee or licensee will become:
- 12 (A) eighteen (18) years of age; and
- 13 (B) twenty-one (21) years of age.
- 14 (12) If the permittee or licensee is at least eighteen (18) years of
- 15 age but less than twenty-one (21) years of age at the time of
- 16 issuance, the date, notated prominently, on which the permittee or
- 17 licensee will become twenty-one (21) years of age.
- 18 (13) Except as provided in subsection (b), a digital photograph of
- 19 the permittee or licensee.
- 20 (b) The bureau may provide for the omission of a photograph or
- 21 computerized image from any driver's license or learner's permit **issued**
- 22 **in the form of a physical credential** if there is good cause for the
- 23 omission. However, a driver's license or learner's permit issued without
- 24 a digital photograph **may not be issued in the form of a mobile**
- 25 **credential and** must include a statement that indicates that the driver's
- 26 license or learner's permit **issued without a digital photograph** may
- 27 not be accepted by a federal agency for federal identification or any
- 28 other federal purpose.
- 29 (c) A driver's license or learner's permit issued to an individual who
- 30 **has temporary lawful status by having:**
- 31 (1) ~~has~~ a valid, unexpired nonimmigrant visa or has nonimmigrant
- 32 visa status for entry in the United States;
- 33 (2) ~~has~~ a pending application for asylum in the United States;
- 34 (3) ~~has~~ a pending or approved application for temporary protected
- 35 status in the United States;
- 36 (4) ~~has~~ approved deferred action status; or
- 37 (5) ~~has~~ a pending application for adjustment of status to that of an
- 38 alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence in the United
- 39 States or conditional permanent residence status in the United
- 40 States;
- 41 must be clearly identified as a temporary driver's license or learner's
- 42 permit. A temporary driver's license or learner's permit issued under



1 this subsection may not be renewed without the presentation of valid
 2 documentary evidence proving that the licensee's or permittee's
 3 temporary status has been extended.

4 (d) For purposes of subsection (a), an individual certified as a
 5 program participant in the address confidentiality program under
 6 IC 5-26.5 is not required to provide the address of the individual's
 7 principal residence, but may provide an address designated by the
 8 office of the attorney general under IC 5-26.5 as the address of the
 9 individual's principal residence.

10 (e) ~~Notwithstanding the July 1, 2021, effective date in HEA~~
 11 ~~1506-2019, SECTION 49 (P.L.178-2019), this section takes effect July~~
 12 ~~1, 2020 (rather than July 1, 2021):~~

13 SECTION 23. IC 9-24-11-12, AS ADDED BY P.L.111-2021,
 14 SECTION 63, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 15 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 12. (a) The bureau may impose an additional fee
 16 of twenty-five dollars (\$25) if the bureau processes ~~a credential~~ **an**
 17 **application for a physical credential** under this chapter in a period of
 18 time that is shorter than the normal processing period. The bureau shall
 19 deposit the fee in the commission fund.

20 (b) A fee imposed under this section is in addition to any other fee
 21 imposed under this chapter.

22 SECTION 24. IC 9-24-12-0.5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.198-2016,
 23 SECTION 489, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
 24 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 0.5. (a) A learner's permit **issued in**
 25 **the form of a physical credential** expires two (2) years after the date
 26 of issuance.

27 (b) A motorcycle permit expires one (1) year after the date of
 28 issuance. A motorcycle permit may be renewed one (1) time for a
 29 period of one (1) year. An individual who does not obtain a motorcycle
 30 endorsement under IC 9-24-8.5 before the expiration of the renewed
 31 motorcycle permit may not reapply for a new motorcycle permit for a
 32 period of one (1) year after the date of expiration of the renewed
 33 motorcycle permit.

34 (c) A commercial learner's permit expires one hundred eighty (180)
 35 days after the date of issuance. The bureau may issue not more than
 36 three (3) commercial learner's permits to an individual within a
 37 twenty-four (24) month period.

38 (d) The fee to renew a permit that expires under this section is the
 39 applicable fee to issue the permit under this article.

40 SECTION 25. IC 9-24-12-1, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
 41 SECTION 64, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 42 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 1. (a) Except as provided in sections 10 and 11 of



1 this chapter, a driver's license issued **in the form of a physical**
 2 **credential** to an applicant who is at least seventy-five (75) years of age
 3 expires at midnight of the birthday of the holder that occurs three (3)
 4 years following the date of issuance.

5 (b) Except as provided in subsections (a) and (c) and sections 10
 6 and 11 of this chapter, a driver's license issued **in the form of a**
 7 **physical credential** under this article expires at midnight of the
 8 birthday of the holder that occurs six (6) years following the date of
 9 issuance.

10 (c) A driver's license issued **in the form of a physical credential**
 11 to an individual who is less than twenty-one (21) years of age expires
 12 at midnight of the date thirty (30) days after the twenty-first birthday
 13 of the holder. However, if the individual complies with
 14 ~~IC 9-24-9-2.5(5) through IC 9-24-9-2.5(9)~~, **IC 9-24-9-2.5**, the driver's
 15 license expires:

16 (1) at midnight one (1) year after issuance if there is no expiration
 17 date on the authorization granted to the individual to remain in the
 18 United States; or

19 (2) if there is an expiration date on the authorization granted to
 20 the individual to remain in the United States, the earlier of the
 21 following:

22 (A) At midnight of the date the authorization to remain in the
 23 United States expires.

24 (B) At midnight of the date thirty (30) days after the
 25 twenty-first birthday of the holder.

26 SECTION 26. IC 9-24-12-4, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
 27 SECTION 65, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 28 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 4. (a) Except as provided in subsections (c) and
 29 (d), the application for renewal of:

30 (1) a driver's license;

31 (2) a chauffeur's license (before the expiration of IC 9-24-4 on
 32 July 1, 2024);

33 (3) a public passenger chauffeur's license (before the expiration
 34 of IC 9-24-5 on July 1, 2022);

35 (4) an identification card; or

36 (5) a photo exempt identification card;

37 under this article may be filed not more than twenty-four (24) months
 38 before the expiration date of the license, identification card, or photo
 39 exempt identification card held by the applicant.

40 (b) Except as provided in subsections (c) and (d), an application for
 41 the renewal of a learner's permit issued under this article may be filed
 42 not more than thirty (30) days before the expiration of the learner's



1 permit.

2 (c) When the applicant complies with ~~IC 9-24-9-2.5(5) through~~
 3 ~~IC 9-24-9-2.5(10)~~, **IC 9-24-9-2.5**, an application for renewal of a
 4 driver's license in subsection (a)(1), (a)(2), or (a)(3) may be filed not
 5 more than one (1) month before the expiration date of the license held
 6 by the applicant.

7 (d) When the applicant complies with ~~IC 9-24-16-3.5(1)(E) through~~
 8 ~~IC 9-24-16-3.5(1)(J)~~, **IC 9-24-16-3.5**, an application for renewal of an
 9 identification card under subsection (a)(4) may be filed not more than
 10 one (1) month before the expiration date of the identification card held
 11 by the applicant.

12 SECTION 27. IC 9-24-12-5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
 13 SECTION 66, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 14 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 5. (a) Except as provided in subsection (b), and
 15 subject to subsection (d), an individual applying for renewal of a
 16 driver's license **in the form of a physical credential** (issued under
 17 IC 9-24-3), or a chauffeur's or a public passenger chauffeur's license,
 18 including any endorsements in effect with respect to the license, must
 19 apply in person at a license branch and do the following:

- 20 (1) Pass an eyesight examination.
 21 (2) Pass a written examination if:
 22 (A) the applicant has at least six (6) active points on the
 23 applicant's driving record maintained by the bureau;
 24 (B) the applicant has not reached the applicant's twenty-first
 25 birthday and has active points on the applicant's driving record
 26 maintained by the bureau; or
 27 (C) the applicant is in possession of a driver's license that is
 28 expired beyond one hundred eighty (180) days.

29 (b) The holder of a driver's license **in the form of a physical**
 30 **credential** (issued under IC 9-24-3), a chauffeur's or a public passenger
 31 chauffeur's license, or a learner's permit issued **in the form of a**
 32 **physical credential** under IC 9-24-7 may renew the license, including
 33 any endorsements in effect with respect to the license, by mail or by
 34 electronic service, subject to the following conditions:

- 35 (1) A valid computerized image of the individual must exist
 36 within the records of the bureau.
 37 (2) The previous renewal of the individual's driver's license
 38 (issued under IC 9-24-3), chauffeur's or public passenger
 39 chauffeur's license, or a learner's permit issued under IC 9-24-7
 40 must not have been by mail or by electronic service.
 41 (3) The application for or previous renewal of the individual's
 42 license or permit must have included a test of the individual's



- 1 eyesight approved by the bureau.
- 2 (4) If the individual were applying for the license or permit
3 renewal in person at a license branch, the individual would not be
4 required under subsection (a)(2) to submit to a written
5 examination.
- 6 (5) The individual must be a citizen of the United States, as
7 shown in the records of the bureau.
- 8 (6) There must not have been any change in the:
9 (A) address; or
10 (B) name;
11 of the individual since the issuance or previous renewal of the
12 individual's driver's license (issued under IC 9-24-3), chauffeur's
13 or public passenger chauffeur's license, or a learner's permit
14 issued under IC 9-24-7.
- 15 (7) The driver's license (issued under IC 9-24-3), chauffeur's or
16 public passenger chauffeur's license, or a learner's permit issued
17 under IC 9-24-7 of the individual must not be:
18 (A) suspended; or
19 (B) expired more than one hundred eighty (180) days;
20 at the time of the application for renewal.
- 21 (8) If the individual is seventy-five (75) years of age or older at
22 the time of the application for renewal, the individual must
23 provide proof, on a form approved by the bureau, that the
24 individual has passed an eyesight examination within thirty (30)
25 days prior to the renewal application.
- 26 (c) An individual applying for the renewal of a driver's license
27 **issued in the form of a physical credential** (issued under IC 9-24-3),
28 a chauffeur's license or a public passenger chauffeur's license, or a
29 learner's permit issued **in the form of a physical credential** under
30 IC 9-24-7, including any endorsements in effect with respect to the
31 license, must apply in person at a license branch under subsection (a)
32 if the individual is not entitled to apply by mail or by electronic service
33 under subsection (b).
- 34 (d) The bureau may not issue or renew a chauffeur's or a public
35 passenger chauffeur's license after December 31, 2016. If a holder of
36 a chauffeur's or a public passenger chauffeur's license applies after
37 December 31, 2016, for renewal of the chauffeur's or public passenger
38 chauffeur's license, the bureau shall issue to the holder a driver's
39 license under IC 9-24-3 with a for-hire endorsement if the holder:
40 (1) applies in a form and manner prescribed by the bureau; and
41 (2) satisfies the requirements for renewal of a driver's license
42 issued under IC 9-24-3, including the fee and examination



- 1 requirements under this section.
- 2 (e) An individual applying for the renewal of a driver's license
- 3 issued **in the form of a physical credential** under IC 9-24-3 shall pay
- 4 the following applicable fee:
- 5 (1) If the individual is less than seventy-five (75) years of age,
- 6 seventeen dollars and fifty cents (\$17.50). The fee shall be
- 7 distributed as follows:
- 8 (A) Fifty cents (\$0.50) to the state motor vehicle technology
- 9 fund.
- 10 (B) Two dollars (\$2) to the crossroads 2000 fund.
- 11 (C) Four dollars and fifty cents (\$4.50) to the motor vehicle
- 12 highway account.
- 13 (D) One dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) to the integrated
- 14 public safety communications fund.
- 15 (E) Nine dollars and twenty-five cents (\$9.25) to the
- 16 commission fund.
- 17 (2) If the individual is at least seventy-five (75) years of age and
- 18 less than eighty-five (85) years of age, eleven dollars (\$11). The
- 19 fee shall be distributed as follows:
- 20 (A) Fifty cents (\$0.50) to the state motor vehicle technology
- 21 fund.
- 22 (B) One dollar and fifty cents (\$1.50) to the crossroads 2000
- 23 fund.
- 24 (C) Three dollars (\$3) to the motor vehicle highway account.
- 25 (D) One dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) to the integrated
- 26 public safety communications fund.
- 27 (E) Four dollars and seventy-five cents (\$4.75) to the
- 28 commission fund.
- 29 (3) If the individual is at least eighty-five (85) years of age, seven
- 30 dollars (\$7). The fee shall be distributed as follows:
- 31 (A) Fifty cents (\$0.50) to the state motor vehicle technology
- 32 fund.
- 33 (B) One dollar (\$1) to the crossroads 2000 fund.
- 34 (C) Two dollars (\$2) to the motor vehicle highway account.
- 35 (D) One dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) to the integrated
- 36 public safety communications fund.
- 37 (E) Two dollars and twenty-five cents (\$2.25) to the
- 38 commission fund.
- 39 A fee paid under this subsection after December 31, 2016, includes the
- 40 renewal of any endorsements that are in effect with respect to the
- 41 driver's license issued **in the form of a physical credential** under
- 42 IC 9-24-3 at the time of renewal.



1 SECTION 28. IC 9-24-12-11, AS AMENDED BY P.L.198-2016,
 2 SECTION 497, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
 3 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 11. (a) This section applies to a
 4 driver's license other than a commercial driver's license.

5 (b) If the birthday of a holder on which the holder's driver's license
 6 would otherwise expire falls on:

7 (1) Sunday;

8 (2) a legal holiday (as set forth in IC 1-1-9-1); or

9 (3) a weekday when all license branches in the county of
 10 residence of the holder are closed;

11 the driver's license of the holder does not expire until midnight of the
 12 first day after the birthday on which a license branch is open for
 13 business in the county of residence of the holder.

14 (c) A driver's license issued to an applicant who complies with
 15 ~~IC 9-24-9-2.5(5) through IC 9-24-9-2.5(10)~~ **IC 9-24-2.5** expires:

16 (1) at midnight one (1) year after issuance if there is no expiration
 17 date on the authorization granted to the individual to remain in the
 18 United States; or

19 (2) if there is an expiration date on the authorization granted to
 20 the individual to remain in the United States, the earlier of the
 21 following:

22 (A) At midnight of the date the authorization of the holder to
 23 ~~be a legal~~ **have lawful status as a** permanent resident or
 24 conditional resident alien of the United States expires.

25 (B) At midnight of the birthday of the holder that occurs six
 26 (6) years after the date of issuance.

27 SECTION 29. IC 9-24-13-3, AS AMENDED BY P.L.120-2020,
 28 SECTION 31, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 29 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 3. (a) An individual holding a permit or driver's
 30 license issued **in the form of a physical credential** under this article
 31 must have the permit or driver's license **in the form of the physical**
 32 **credential** in the individual's immediate possession when driving or
 33 operating a motor vehicle. The individual shall display the driver's
 34 license or permit **in the form of a physical credential** upon demand
 35 of a court or a police officer authorized by law to enforce motor vehicle
 36 rules.

37 (b) If the permit or driver's license is a mobile credential, ~~viewed on~~
 38 ~~a telecommunications device~~; a court or a police officer authorized by
 39 law to enforce motor vehicle rules may not, without the consent of the
 40 person:

41 (1) confiscate a telecommunications device for the purpose of
 42 determining compliance with this section;



1 (2) confiscate a telecommunications device and retain it as
2 evidence pending trial for a violation of this section; or

3 (3) extract or otherwise download information from a
4 telecommunications device for a violation of this section unless:

5 (A) the court or police officer has probable cause to believe
6 the telecommunications device has been used in the
7 commission of a crime;

8 (B) the information is extracted or otherwise downloaded
9 under a valid search warrant; or

10 (C) otherwise authorized by law.

11 (c) The ~~display of~~ **transmission of data from** a mobile credential
12 shall not serve as consent or authorization for the court, a police
13 officer, or any other person to search, view, or access any data or
14 application on the telecommunications device other than the mobile
15 credential. If a person presents the person's telecommunications device
16 to the court, a police officer, or any other person for the purposes of
17 ~~displaying~~ **sharing data from** the person's mobile credential, the court,
18 police officer, or person ~~viewing~~ **receiving the data from** the mobile
19 credential shall not handle the telecommunications device in order to
20 view the mobile credential and to verify the identity of the person.

21 (d) ~~Notwithstanding the July 1, 2021, effective date in HEA~~
22 ~~1506-2019, SECTION 53 (P.L.178-2019), this section takes effect July~~
23 ~~1, 2020 (rather than July 1, 2021).~~

24 SECTION 30. IC 9-24-13-4, AS AMENDED BY P.L.256-2017,
25 SECTION 175, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
26 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 4. If:

27 (1) an individual holding a driver's license or permit issued **in the**
28 **form of a physical credential** under this article changes the
29 address shown on the driver's license or permit application; or

30 (2) the name of a licensee or permittee is changed by marriage or
31 otherwise;

32 the licensee or permittee shall make application for an amended
33 driver's license or permit **issued in the form of a physical credential**
34 under IC 9-24-9 containing the correct information within thirty (30)
35 days of the change. For fee purposes, the application shall be treated as
36 a replacement license under IC 9-24-14-1.

37 SECTION 31. IC 9-24-14-1, AS AMENDED BY P.L.256-2017,
38 SECTION 176, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
39 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 1. If a permit or driver's license
40 issued **in the form of a physical credential** under this article is lost or
41 destroyed, and as provided in section 3.5 of this chapter, the individual
42 to whom the permit or driver's license was issued may obtain a



- 1 replacement if the individual pays a fee as follows:
- 2 (1) For a replacement permit or driver's license, other than a
- 3 commercial driver's license, issued before January 1, 2017, ten
- 4 dollars and fifty cents (\$10.50). The fee shall be distributed as
- 5 follows:
- 6 (A) Fifty cents (\$0.50) to the state motor vehicle technology
- 7 fund.
- 8 (B) One dollar and fifty cents (\$1.50) to the crossroads 2000
- 9 fund.
- 10 (C) One dollar and fifty cents (\$1.50) to the motor vehicle
- 11 highway account.
- 12 (D) One dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) to the integrated
- 13 public safety communications fund.
- 14 (E) Five dollars and seventy-five cents (\$5.75) to the
- 15 commission fund.
- 16 (2) For a replacement commercial driver's license issued before
- 17 January 1, 2017, five dollars and fifty cents (\$5.50). The fee shall
- 18 be distributed as follows:
- 19 (A) Fifty cents (\$0.50) to the state motor vehicle technology
- 20 fund.
- 21 (B) One dollar (\$1) to the crossroads 2000 fund.
- 22 (C) One dollar and fifty cents (\$1.50) to the motor vehicle
- 23 highway account.
- 24 (D) Two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.50) to the commission
- 25 fund.
- 26 (3) For a replacement permit or driver's license issued after
- 27 December 31, 2016, nine dollars (\$9). The fee shall be distributed
- 28 as follows:
- 29 (A) Twenty-five cents (\$0.25) to the motor vehicle highway
- 30 account.
- 31 (B) Fifty cents (\$0.50) to the state motor vehicle technology
- 32 fund.
- 33 (C) One dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) to the integrated
- 34 public safety communications fund.
- 35 (D) Two dollars (\$2) to the crossroads 2000 fund.
- 36 (E) Five dollars (\$5) to the commission fund.
- 37 SECTION 32. IC 9-24-14-3.5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.118-2022,
- 38 SECTION 29, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
- 39 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 3.5. (a) If a valid computerized image or digital
- 40 photograph of an individual exists within the records of the bureau, an
- 41 individual may apply for a replacement driver's license or learner's
- 42 permit **issued in the form of a physical credential** by electronic



1 service.

2 (b) An individual applying for a replacement of a driver's license or
3 a learner's permit **issued in the form of a physical credential** must
4 apply in person at a license branch if the individual is not entitled to
5 apply by mail or by electronic service under subsection (a).

6 SECTION 33. IC 9-24-16-1, AS AMENDED BY P.L.198-2016,
7 SECTION 508, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
8 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 1. The bureau shall issue an
9 identification card **in the form of a physical credential** to an
10 individual who meets the following conditions:

- 11 (1) Makes an application.
12 (2) Is an Indiana resident.
13 (3) Has presented valid documentary evidence to the bureau of
14 the individual's ~~legal~~ **lawful** status in the United States, as
15 required by section 3.5 of this chapter.

16 SECTION 34. IC 9-24-16-2, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
17 SECTION 69, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
18 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 2. (a) An application for an identification card to
19 be issued under this chapter **in the form of a physical credential** must
20 contain the following questions:

- 21 (1) "Have you served in the armed forces of the United States?".
22 (2) "Are you the surviving spouse of someone who served in the
23 armed forces of the United States or their reserves, in the National
24 Guard, or in the Indiana National Guard?".

25 (b) In addition to the questions set forth in subsection (a), an
26 application for an identification card issued under this chapter **in the**
27 **form of a physical credential** must require the following information
28 concerning an applicant:

- 29 (1) The full legal name of the applicant.
30 (2) The applicant's date of birth.
31 (3) The gender of the applicant.
32 (4) The applicant's height, weight, hair color, and eye color.
33 (5) The principal address and mailing address of the applicant.
34 (6) A:
35 (A) valid Social Security number; or
36 (B) verification of an applicant's:
37 (i) ineligibility to be issued a Social Security number; and
38 (ii) identity and lawful status.
39 (7) A digital photograph of the applicant.
40 (8) The signature of the applicant showing the applicant's legal
41 name as it will appear on the identification card **issued in the**
42 **form of a physical credential.**



- 1 (9) If the applicant is also applying for a motor driven cycle
 2 endorsement, verification that the applicant has satisfactorily
 3 completed the test required under section 3.6 of this chapter.
- 4 (c) The bureau may invalidate an identification card **issued in the**
 5 **form of a physical credential** that the bureau believes to have been
 6 issued as a result of fraudulent documentation.
- 7 (d) The bureau:
 8 (1) shall adopt rules under IC 4-22-2 to establish a procedure to
 9 verify an applicant's identity and lawful status; and
 10 (2) may adopt rules to establish a procedure to temporarily
 11 invalidate an identification card **issued in the form of a physical**
 12 **credential** that it believes to have been issued based on
 13 fraudulent documentation.
- 14 (e) For purposes of subsection (b), an individual certified as a
 15 program participant in the address confidentiality program under
 16 IC 5-26.5 is not required to provide the individual's principal address
 17 and mailing address, but may provide an address designated by the
 18 office of the attorney general under IC 5-26.5 as the individual's
 19 principal address and mailing address.
- 20 (f) In addition to the information required under subsection (b), an
 21 application for an identification card to be issued under this chapter **in**
 22 **the form of a physical credential** must enable the applicant to
 23 indicate that the applicant is a veteran and wishes to have an indication
 24 of the applicant's veteran status appear on the identification card **issued**
 25 **in the form of a physical credential**. An applicant who wishes to have
 26 an indication of the applicant's veteran status appear on the
 27 identification card **issued in the form of a physical credential** must:
 28 (1) indicate on the application that the applicant:
 29 (A) is a veteran; and
 30 (B) wishes to have an indication of the applicant's veteran
 31 status appear on the identification card; and
 32 (2) provide proof at the time of application of the applicant's
 33 veteran status.
- 34 (g) In addition to the information required under subsection (b), an
 35 application for an identification card to be issued under this chapter **in**
 36 **the form of a physical credential** must enable the applicant to
 37 indicate that the applicant is a surviving spouse of a veteran and wishes
 38 to have an indication of the applicant's status as a surviving spouse of
 39 a veteran appear on the identification card **issued in the form of a**
 40 **physical credential**. An applicant who wishes to have an indication of
 41 the applicant's status as a surviving spouse of a veteran appear on the
 42 identification card **issued in the form of a physical credential** must:



1 (1) indicate on the application that the applicant:

2 (A) is the surviving spouse of a veteran of the armed forces of
3 the United States; and

4 (B) wishes to have an indication of the applicant's status as a
5 surviving spouse of a veteran appear on the identification card
6 **issued in the form of a physical credential;** and

7 (2) provide the documentation necessary to verify that the
8 applicant was married, at the time of the decedent's death, to a
9 veteran.

10 (h) The bureau shall keep in a data base and share the information
11 submitted under subsections (a) and (g) at least annually with the
12 Indiana department of veterans' affairs. The information submitted
13 under subsections (a) and (g) may be used by the Indiana department
14 of veterans' affairs to develop outreach programs for veterans and their
15 families.

16 (i) The application for an identification card to be issued under this
17 chapter **in the form of a physical credential** must indicate that an
18 applicant has the option whether or not to answer the questions set
19 forth in subsection (a).

20 SECTION 35. IC 9-24-16-3, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
21 SECTION 70, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
22 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 3. (a) An identification card:

23 (1) **issued in physical the form of a physical credential** must
24 have the same dimensions and shape as a driver's license; and

25 (2) in the form of a mobile credential must ~~have the same format~~
26 **as contain the same data contained in** a driver's license;

27 but the card must have markings sufficient to distinguish the card from
28 a driver's license.

29 (b) Except as provided in subsection (g), the front side of a ~~physical~~
30 **an identification card or the top portion of an identification card in the**
31 **format of a mobile credential issued in the form of a physical**
32 **credential** must contain the expiration date of the identification card
33 and the following information about the individual to whom the card
34 is being issued:

35 (1) Full legal name.

36 (2) The address of the principal residence.

37 (3) Date of birth.

38 (4) Date of issue and date of expiration.

39 (5) Unique identification number.

40 (6) Gender.

41 (7) Weight.

42 (8) Height.



- 1 (9) Color of eyes and hair.
- 2 (10) Reproduction of the signature of the individual identified.
- 3 (11) Whether the individual is blind (as defined in
- 4 IC 12-7-2-21(1)).
- 5 (12) If the individual is less than eighteen (18) years of age at the
- 6 time of issuance, the dates on which the individual will become:
- 7 (A) eighteen (18) years of age; and
- 8 (B) twenty-one (21) years of age.
- 9 (13) If the individual is at least eighteen (18) years of age but less
- 10 than twenty-one (21) years of age at the time of issuance, the date
- 11 on which the individual will become twenty-one (21) years of age.
- 12 (14) Digital photograph of the individual.
- 13 (c) The information contained on the identification card as required
- 14 by subsection (b)(12) or (b)(13) for an individual who is less than
- 15 twenty-one (21) years of age at the time of issuance shall be notated
- 16 prominently on the identification card **issued in the form of a physical**
- 17 **credential.**
- 18 (d) If the individual complies with section 2(f) or 2(g) of this
- 19 chapter, an indication of the individual's veteran status or status as the
- 20 surviving spouse of a veteran of the armed forces of the United States,
- 21 as applicable, shall be shown on the identification card **issued in the**
- 22 **form of a physical credential.**
- 23 (e) If the applicant for an identification card **issued in the form of**
- 24 **a physical credential** submits information to the bureau concerning
- 25 the applicant's medical condition, the bureau shall place an identifying
- 26 symbol on the face of the identification card **issued in the form of a**
- 27 **physical credential** to indicate that the applicant has a medical
- 28 condition of note. The bureau shall include information on the
- 29 identification card **issued in the form of a physical credential** that
- 30 briefly describes the medical condition of the holder of the card **issued**
- 31 **in the form of a physical credential.** The information must be printed
- 32 in a manner that alerts a person reading the card **issued in the form of**
- 33 **a physical credential** to the existence of the medical condition. The
- 34 applicant for an identification card **issued in the form of a physical**
- 35 **credential** is responsible for the accuracy of the information
- 36 concerning the medical condition submitted under this subsection. The
- 37 bureau shall inform an applicant that submission of information under
- 38 this subsection is voluntary.
- 39 (f) An identification card issued by the state ~~to an individual who in~~
- 40 **the form of a physical credential must be clearly identified as a**
- 41 **temporary identification card if the applicant provides proof of**
- 42 **lawful status through any of the following:**



- 1 (1) ~~has~~ A valid, unexpired nonimmigrant visa or has
 2 nonimmigrant visa status for entry in the United States.
 3 (2) ~~has~~ A pending application for asylum in the United States.
 4 (3) ~~has~~ A pending or approved application for temporary
 5 protected status in the United States.
 6 (4) ~~has~~ Approved deferred action status. ~~or~~
 7 (5) ~~has~~ A pending application for adjustment of status to that of
 8 an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence in the United
 9 States or conditional permanent residence status in the United
 10 States.

11 ~~must be clearly identified as a temporary identification card. A~~
 12 temporary identification card issued under this subsection **in the form**
 13 **of a physical credential** may not be renewed without the presentation
 14 of valid documentary evidence proving that the holder of the
 15 identification card's temporary status has been extended.

16 (g) For purposes of subsection (b), an individual certified as a
 17 program participant in the address confidentiality program under
 18 IC 5-26.5 is not required to provide the address of the individual's
 19 principal residence, but may provide an address designated by the
 20 office of the attorney general under IC 5-26.5 as the address of the
 21 individual's principal residence.

22 (h) The bureau shall validate an identification card **issued in the**
 23 **form of a physical credential** for motor driven cycle operation upon
 24 a highway by endorsement to an individual who:

- 25 (1) applies for or has previously been issued an identification card
 26 under this chapter;
 27 (2) makes the appropriate application for endorsement; and
 28 (3) satisfactorily completes the test required under section 3.6 of
 29 this chapter.

30 The bureau shall place a designation on the face of the identification
 31 card **issued in the form of a physical credential** to indicate that the
 32 individual has received a motor driven cycle endorsement.

33 SECTION 36. IC 9-24-16-3.5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.162-2009,
 34 SECTION 8, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 35 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 3.5. In addition to the information required for the
 36 applicant for an identification card under section 3 of this chapter, the
 37 bureau shall require an applicant to present to the bureau:

- 38 (1) valid documentary evidence that the applicant **has:**
 39 (A) ~~is a citizen or national of the United States;~~ **lawful status;**
 40 **or**
 41 (B) ~~is an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence in~~
 42 ~~the United States;~~



- 1 (C) has conditional permanent resident status in the United
- 2 States;
- 3 (D) has an approved application for asylum in the United
- 4 States or has entered into the United States in refugee status;
- 5 (E) is an alien lawfully admitted for temporary residence in the
- 6 United States;
- 7 (F) has a valid unexpired nonimmigrant visa or nonimmigrant
- 8 visa status for entry into the United States;
- 9 (G) has a pending application for asylum in the United States;
- 10 (H) has a pending or approved application for temporary
- 11 protected status in the United States;
- 12 (I) has approved deferred action status; or
- 13 (J) **(B)** has a pending application for adjustment of status to
- 14 that of an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence in
- 15 the United States or conditional permanent resident status in
- 16 the United States; and

17 (2) evidence of the Social Security number of the applicant. If
 18 federal law prohibits the issuance of a Social Security number to
 19 the applicant, the applicant must provide verification of the
 20 applicant's ineligibility to be issued a Social Security number.

21 SECTION 37. IC 9-24-16-4, AS AMENDED BY P.L.125-2012,
 22 SECTION 228, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
 23 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 4. (a) Except as provided in
 24 subsection (b), an identification card expires at midnight of the
 25 birthday of the holder that occurs six (6) years following the date of
 26 issuance.

27 (b) An identification card issued under this article to an applicant
 28 who complies with section 3.5(1)(E) ~~through 3.5(1)(J)~~ **3.5** of this
 29 chapter expires:

- 30 (1) at midnight one (1) year after issuance, if there is no
- 31 expiration date on the authorization granted to the individual to
- 32 remain in the United States; or
- 33 (2) if there is an expiration date on the authorization granted to
- 34 the individual to remain in the United States, the earlier of the
- 35 following:
 - 36 (A) At midnight of the date the authorization of the holder to
 - 37 ~~be a legal~~ **have lawful status as** a permanent resident or
 - 38 conditional resident alien of the United States expires.
 - 39 (B) At midnight of the birthday of the holder that occurs six
 - 40 (6) years after the date of issuance.

41 SECTION 38. IC 9-24-16-4.5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.111-2021,
 42 SECTION 72, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE



1 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 4.5. (a) The bureau may adopt rules under
 2 IC 4-22-2 concerning the ability of an individual to renew an
 3 identification card **issued in the form of a physical credential** under
 4 section 5 of this chapter, apply for a replacement identification card
 5 **issued in the form of a physical credential** under section 9 of this
 6 chapter, or apply for a replacement identification card **issued in the**
 7 **form of a physical credential** under section 6 of this chapter by
 8 electronic service. If rules are adopted under this subsection, the rules
 9 must provide that an individual's renewal, amendment, or replacement
 10 of an identification card **issued in the form of a physical credential**
 11 by electronic service is subject to the following conditions:

12 (1) A valid computerized image or digital photograph of the
 13 individual must exist within the records of the bureau.

14 (2) The individual must be a citizen of the United States, as
 15 shown in the records of the bureau.

16 (3) There must not have been any change in the:

17 (A) legal address; or

18 (B) name;

19 of the individual since the issuance or previous renewal of the
 20 identification card **issued in the form of a physical credential** of
 21 the individual.

22 (4) The identification card **issued in the form of a physical**
 23 **credential** of the individual must not be expired more than one
 24 hundred eighty (180) days at the time of the application for
 25 renewal.

26 (b) An individual applying for:

27 (1) the renewal of an identification card; or

28 (2) a replacement identification card;

29 must apply in person if the individual is not entitled to apply by mail or
 30 by electronic service under subsection (a).

31 SECTION 39. IC 9-24-16-5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.147-2018,
 32 SECTION 20, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 33 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 5. (a) An application for renewal of an
 34 identification card **issued in the form of a physical credential** may be
 35 made not more than twenty-four (24) months before the expiration date
 36 of the card **issued in the form of a physical credential**. However,
 37 when the applicant complies with section ~~3-5(1)(E) through 3-5(1)(J)~~
 38 **3.5** of this chapter, an application for renewal of an identification card
 39 **issued in the form of a physical credential** may be filed not more
 40 than one (1) month before the expiration date of the identification card
 41 **issued in the form of a physical credential** held by the applicant.

42 (b) Except as provided in subsection (d), a renewed card **issued in**



1 **the form of a physical credential** is valid on the birth date of the
2 holder and remains valid for six (6) years.

3 (c) Renewal may not be granted if the cardholder was issued a
4 driver's license **issued in the form of a physical credential** subsequent
5 to the last issuance of an identification card **issued in the form of a**
6 **physical credential**.

7 (d) A renewed identification card issued under this article **in the**
8 **form of a physical credential** to an applicant who complies with
9 section ~~3-5(1)(E) through 3-5(1)(J)~~ **3.5** of this chapter expires:

10 (1) at midnight one (1) year after issuance, if there is no
11 expiration date on the authorization granted to the individual to
12 remain in the United States; or

13 (2) if there is an expiration date on the authorization granted to
14 the individual to remain in the United States, the earlier of the
15 following:

16 (A) At midnight of the date the authorization of the holder to
17 ~~be a legal~~ **have lawful status as a** permanent resident or
18 conditional resident alien of the United States expires.

19 (B) At midnight of the birthday of the holder that occurs six
20 (6) years after the date of issuance.

21 SECTION 40. IC 9-24-16-15, AS ADDED BY P.L.111-2021,
22 SECTION 74, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
23 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 15. (a) The bureau may impose an additional fee
24 of twenty-five dollars (\$25) if the bureau processes ~~a credential an~~
25 **application for a physical credential** under this chapter in a period of
26 time that is shorter than the normal processing period. The bureau shall
27 deposit the fee in the commission fund.

28 (b) A fee imposed under this section is in addition to any other fee
29 imposed under this chapter.

30 SECTION 41. IC 9-24-16.5-15, AS ADDED BY P.L.111-2021,
31 SECTION 75, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
32 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 15. (a) The bureau may impose an additional fee
33 of twenty-five dollars (\$25) if the bureau processes ~~a credential an~~
34 **application for a physical credential** under this chapter in a period of
35 time that is shorter than the normal processing period. The bureau shall
36 deposit the fee in the commission fund.

37 (b) A fee imposed under this section is in addition to any other fee
38 imposed under this chapter.

39 SECTION 42. IC 9-24-17-1, AS AMENDED BY P.L.198-2016,
40 SECTION 519, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
41 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 1. The application form for a
42 **physical** credential must allow an applicant to acknowledge the making



1 of an anatomical gift under IC 29-2-16.1-4.

2 SECTION 43. IC 9-24-17-2, AS AMENDED BY P.L.198-2016,
3 SECTION 520, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
4 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 2. (a) The bureau shall inquire of
5 every individual who applies for a **physical** credential whether the
6 individual desires to make an anatomical gift.

7 (b) If the individual does desire to make an anatomical gift, the
8 bureau shall provide the individual the form by which the individual
9 makes the gift.

10 SECTION 44. IC 9-24-17-8, AS AMENDED BY P.L.198-2016,
11 SECTION 524, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
12 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 8. (a) Each anatomical gift made
13 under this chapter must be made by the donor by acknowledging the
14 making of the anatomical gift by signing the application form for ~~the~~
15 **a physical** credential under section 1 of this chapter. If the donor
16 cannot sign, the application form may be signed for the donor:

17 (1) at the donor's direction and in the donor's presence; and

18 (2) in the presence of two (2) witnesses who must sign the
19 document in the donor's and each other's presence.

20 (b) The bureau shall place an identifying symbol on the face of the
21 **physical** credential to indicate that the person to whom the **physical**
22 credential is issued has acknowledged the making of an anatomical gift
23 on the application form for the **physical** credential as set forth in
24 subsection (a).

25 (c) Revocation, suspension, cancellation, or expiration of the
26 **physical** credential does not invalidate the anatomical gift.

27 (d) An anatomical gift is valid if the individual acknowledges the
28 making of the anatomical gift by signing the application form for a
29 **physical** credential under subsection (a). No other acknowledgment is
30 required to make an anatomical gift.

31 SECTION 45. IC 9-24-17.5-1, AS AMENDED BY P.L.120-2020,
32 SECTION 33, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
33 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 1. (a) The bureau may develop a secure and
34 uniform system to issue mobile credentials that can be accessed
35 **electronically** through an application on a telecommunications device.

36 ~~(b) Notwithstanding the July 1, 2021, effective date in HEA~~
37 ~~1506-2019, SECTION 55 (P.L.178-2019), this section takes effect July~~
38 ~~1, 2020 (rather than July 1, 2021):~~

39 **(b) The form of a mobile credential issued by the bureau under**
40 **this chapter must comply with:**

41 **(1) the standards for implementation of mobile driving**
42 **licenses set by the International Organization for**



1 **Standardization and the International Electrotechnical**
 2 **Commission; and**
 3 **(2) the Mobile Driver's License Implementation Guidelines**
 4 **established by the American Association of Motor Vehicle**
 5 **Administrators.**

6 SECTION 46. IC 9-24-17.5-2, AS AMENDED BY P.L.120-2020,
 7 SECTION 34, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 8 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 2. (a) In addition to a physical credential issued
 9 under this article, upon request by an applicant, the bureau may issue
 10 a mobile credential to an individual who satisfies the requirements for
 11 application under this article for the following:

- 12 (1) A driver's license.
 13 (2) A learner's permit.
 14 (3) An identification card.

15 (b) The bureau ~~shall~~ **may** not issue a mobile credential for:

- 16 (1) a commercial driver's license issued under IC 9-24-6.1;
 17 (2) a commercial learner's permit issued under IC 9-24-6.1; ~~or~~
 18 **(3) a motorcycle learner's permit issued under IC 9-24-8-3;**
 19 **(4) a photo exempt driver's license issued under**
 20 **IC 9-24-11-5(b); or**
 21 ~~(5)~~ **(5)** a photo exempt identification card issued under
 22 IC 9-24-16.5.

23 ~~(c) Notwithstanding the July 1, 2021, effective date in HEA~~
 24 ~~1506-2019, SECTION 55 (P.L.178-2019); this section takes effect July~~
 25 ~~1, 2020 (rather than July 1, 2021):~~

26 SECTION 47. IC 9-24-17.7-1, AS ADDED BY P.L.111-2021,
 27 SECTION 76, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 28 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 1. The bureau shall not request information
 29 regarding an individual's vaccination status or proof of immunity when
 30 an individual applies for a **physical** credential **or a mobile credential**
 31 under this article.

32 SECTION 48. IC 9-24-17.7-2, AS ADDED BY P.L.111-2021,
 33 SECTION 76, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 34 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 2. The bureau shall not collect, keep in a data
 35 base, place an indication on a **physical** credential **or a mobile**
 36 **credential**, or share information regarding an individual's vaccination
 37 status or proof of immunity.

38 SECTION 49. IC 9-26-2-5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.178-2019,
 39 SECTION 58, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 40 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 5. (a) As used in this section, "emergency contact
 41 data base" means the Indiana emergency contact data base described
 42 in IC 9-26-10-1.



1 (b) As used in this section, "emergency contact person" means an
 2 individual who is listed in the emergency contact data base, including
 3 only individuals who are at least eighteen (18) years of age.

4 (c) As used in this section, "qualifying motor vehicle accident"
 5 means a motor vehicle accident involving:

6 (1) death; or

7 (2) serious bodily injury.

8 (d) As used in this section, "serious bodily injury" has the meaning
 9 set forth in IC 35-31.5-2-292.

10 (e) A law enforcement officer, upon arriving at the scene of a
 11 qualifying motor vehicle accident, shall access the emergency contact
 12 data base and attempt to contact the emergency contact persons listed
 13 for a corresponding credential holder unable to communicate due to
 14 death or serious bodily injury. If contact with an emergency contact
 15 person is made, the law enforcement officer shall inform the
 16 emergency contact person that the credential holder has been involved
 17 in a qualifying motor vehicle accident.

18 (f) A law enforcement officer shall attempt to contact a ~~credential~~
 19 ~~holder's the~~ emergency contact persons **of the holder of a physical**
 20 **credential** within a reasonable amount of time after learning of or
 21 responding to a qualifying motor vehicle accident.

22 (g) A law enforcement officer's good faith attempt to contact a
 23 ~~credential holder's the~~ emergency contact persons **of the holder of a**
 24 **physical credential** as described in subsection (f) immunizes the law
 25 enforcement officer from civil liability and all associated damages,
 26 including punitive damages, related to the law enforcement officer's
 27 inability to make:

28 (1) any contact with a ~~credential holder's the~~ emergency contact
 29 persons **of the holder of a physical credential**; or

30 (2) contact with a ~~credential holder's the~~ emergency contact
 31 persons **of the holder of a physical credential** within a
 32 reasonable amount of time after arriving at the scene of a
 33 qualifying motor vehicle accident.

34 (h) If a law enforcement officer is not liable for an act or omission
 35 under this section, no other person incurs liability by reason of an
 36 agency relationship with the law enforcement officer.

37 (i) A law enforcement officer may not be:

38 (1) found liable; or

39 (2) subject to damages;

40 for any inaccuracy or omission related to the information contained in
 41 the emergency contact data base.

42 (j) The duty imposed on a law enforcement officer by this section



1 shall be performed in addition to any other duty required by this
2 chapter.

3 (k) A law enforcement agency may establish and implement
4 protocols necessary to meet the law enforcement agency's obligations
5 under this section.

6 (l) A law enforcement agency is exempt from this chapter before the
7 creation of the emergency contact data base by the bureau.

8 SECTION 50. IC 9-26-10-1, AS AMENDED BY P.L.11-2019,
9 SECTION 1, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
10 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 1. (a) The bureau shall create and maintain the
11 Indiana emergency contact data base. The purpose of the emergency
12 contact data base is to provide law enforcement officers and coroners
13 with the means to contact emergency contact persons in the event of a
14 motor vehicle accident that renders ~~a credential~~ **the holder of a**
15 **physical credential or a mobile credential** unable to communicate
16 due to death or serious bodily injury.

17 (b) The emergency contact data base must consist of contact
18 information for not more than two (2) emergency contact persons per
19 ~~credential~~ **holder of a physical credential or a mobile credential.**

20 SECTION 51. IC 9-27-6-3, AS AMENDED BY P.L.92-2020,
21 SECTION 6, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
22 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 3. (a) As used in this chapter, "driver training
23 school" means:

24 (1) a business enterprise that:

25 (A) is conducted by an individual, an association, a
26 partnership, a limited liability company, or a corporation for
27 the education and training of persons, practically or
28 theoretically, or both, to operate or drive motor vehicles or to
29 prepare an applicant for an examination or validation under
30 IC 9-24 for a driver's license; and

31 (B) charges consideration or tuition for the provision of
32 services; or

33 (2) a driver education program operated under the authority of:

34 (A) a school corporation (as defined in IC 36-1-2-17);

35 (B) a state accredited nonpublic secondary school that
36 voluntarily becomes accredited under IC 20-31-4.1;

37 (C) a postsecondary proprietary educational institution (as
38 defined in IC 22-4.1-21-9);

39 (D) a postsecondary credit bearing proprietary educational
40 institution (as defined in IC 21-18.5-2-12);

41 (E) a state educational institution (as defined in
42 IC 21-7-13-32); or



- 1 (F) a nonaccredited nonpublic school.
- 2 (b) The term does not include a business enterprise that educates or
- 3 trains a person or prepares a person:
- 4 (1) for an examination or a validation given by the bureau to
- 5 operate or drive a motor vehicle as a vocation; **or**
- 6 (2) to operate a commercial motor vehicle.
- 7 SECTION 52. IC 9-27-7-8 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE
- 8 AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY
- 9 1, 2023]: **Sec. 8. (a) The following are immune from civil liability**
- 10 **for an act or omission occurring during a motorcycle operator**
- 11 **safety education course that results in an injury or property**
- 12 **damage:**
- 13 (1) **The state of Indiana.**
- 14 (2) **A regional training center contracted by the bureau or any**
- 15 **other site approved by the commissioner to provide**
- 16 **motorcycle driver education and training courses.**
- 17 (3) **A person who trains and certifies rider coach trainers.**
- 18 (4) **A person who employs rider coach trainers.**
- 19 (5) **A rider coach trainer.**
- 20 (6) **An officer, agent, or employee of a person described in**
- 21 **subdivisions (1) through (5).**
- 22 (b) **The immunity described in subsection (a) does not apply if**
- 23 **the person committed gross negligence or willful or wanton**
- 24 **misconduct.**
- 25 SECTION 53. IC 9-33-1-1, AS AMENDED BY P.L.281-2019,
- 26 SECTION 3, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
- 27 JULY 1, 2023]: Sec. 1. This article applies to the following:
- 28 (1) Actions taken under a court order.
- 29 (2) Actions required under IC 9-24-2-1, IC 9-24-2-2, or
- 30 IC 9-24-2-4.
- 31 (3) Actions required under IC 9-24-6 (before its repeal on July 1,
- 32 2016).
- 33 (4) Actions required under IC 9-24-6.5-6(c) (before its repeal on
- 34 July 1, 2016).
- 35 (5) Actions taken under IC 9-24-6.1.
- 36 (6) Actions required under IC 9-25.
- 37 (7) **Except for a hearing requested under IC 9-28-2-9(c),**
- 38 **actions taken under IC 9-28.**
- 39 (8) Actions required under IC 9-30.
- 40 (9) Refunds claimed after June 30, 2016, of fees imposed by the
- 41 bureau.
- 42 (10) Actions taken under IC 9-22-1-4.



1 SECTION 54. IC 34-30-2.1-107.1 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA
2 CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS
3 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023]: **Sec. 107.1. IC 9-27-7-8 (Concerning**
4 **acts or omissions that occur during a motorcycle operator safety**
5 **education course).**

